THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2019-001254
WCC File No. 1506114

Frankie Padgett, Claimant..... Respondent,

v.

Cast & Crew Entertainment Services, Inc., Employer and
American Zurich Insurance Company, Carrier..... Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Vernon F. Dunbar
McAngus Goudelock & Courie, LLC
55 East Camperdown Way
Suite 300
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
864-239-6735
vernon.dunbar@mgclaw.com
Attorney for Appellants

RECEIVED
JUL 29 2020
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in vacating the Hearing Commissioner's finding that the settlement agreement and release (clincher) reflected 1,704.56 weeks of benefits had been paid pursuant to a prior work-related accident and as such, Respondent/Claimant was not entitled to additional indemnity benefits because Respondent's payment for the prior accident coupled with the 2015 accident had exceeded or reached the 500 week limitation as set forth in section 42-9-10 & 30 of the South Carolina Code of Laws?
2. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in vacating the Hearing Commissioner's decision in its application and erroneous analysis of section 42-9-170, in which the Commission concluded the statute applies to successive permanent injuries after a previous permanent injury, the error being Respondent was illegally in the same employ at the time of the subsequent accident, which occurred on May 6, 2015, and had been paid in excess of 500 weeks of compensation according to the prior settlement terms?
3. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in finding and concluding Respondent is entitled to payment of temporary total disability compensation benefits, despite having been paid in excess of 500 weeks of worker's compensation benefits?
4. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in vacating the Hearing Commissioner's Order and prospectively finding Respondent is entitled to payment of temporary total compensation benefits and that a determination of permanent partial, permanent total and/or wage loss benefits can be determined at a later date once Respondent reaches maximum medical improvement? The error being Respondent had been paid in excess of 500 weeks of benefits and

is not entitled to any additional indemnity benefits; and was subsequently employed in violation of the previous judgment, decree and order of the Commission?

5. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in factually finding and legally concluding Respondent shall be paid temporary total disability compensation benefits until further Order of the Commission, the error being that the conclusion and finding are contrary to the terms set forth in the 2012 settlement agreement which prohibited Respondent from seeking employment with Cast and Crew subsequent to October 12, 2012. Additionally, the South Carolina Worker's Compensation Commission lacks subject-matter jurisdiction and cannot award Respondent any benefits arising from the May 6, 2015 accident because there was not a lawful employment relationship?

6. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in vacating the Hearing Commissioner's findings and decision regarding the payment of temporary total disability compensation benefits and ordering such to be paid in the absence of an injunction; fraud committed by Appellants; and the lack of subject-matter jurisdiction?

7. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation err vacating the Hearing Commissioner's decision on the payment of temporary total disability compensation benefits because the decision absent a re-hearing constitutes a violation of Appellants' right to due process?

8. Did the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission err in vacating the Hearing Commissioner's decision denying Respondent temporary total disability compensation benefits, when the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence reflects Respondent has been paid in excess of 500 weeks of benefits and Respondent was not a lawful and legal employee of Cast and Crew at the time of his accident on May 6, 2015?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Frank Perry Padgett, Jr. a/k/a Frankie Padgett, Perry F. Padgett, Jr., and Perry Padgett [hereinafter “Padgett” or “Respondent”] is a 54-year old male, who stands 6’3” tall and weighed 352 pounds around the time of the accident. Padgett was hired to work as a driver for Cast & Crew Entertainment Services, Inc., the employer, on March 30, 2015, by virtue of his membership in the Teamsters Union. [R.p. 59]. Specifically, Cast & Crew Entertainment Services, Appellant, is assigned drivers through the Teamsters Union and the drivers in turn provide transportation services for film production in South Carolina. [R.pp. 94-96].

On or about May 6, 2015, Frankie Padgett, Respondent, was entering a trailer in order to make a copy when he felt right ankle pain. Padgett suffered a tear of his right Achilles tendon and ankle fracture. [R.p.163]. Padgett reported the right ankle injury on the same date to Brian Turner, a supervisor and medic.[R.pp. 232-234].

Padgett was initially treated at Nason Medical Urgent Care Center. [R.p.232 complained of pain radiating from the right ankle into the right calf. Padgett also complained of numbness and tingling of the right ankle. Padgett underwent a physical examination and x-rays of the right ankle.

The medical providers at Nason Medical Center Urgent Care diagnosed Padgett with a right foot and ankle fracture and a rupture of the Achilles tendon. Accordingly, Padgett was released on the same date and advised not to work from May 6, 2015 to May 8, 2015.

Subsequently, Padgett treated with Dr. John Prather because of continued right foot and ankle pain. Dr. Prather ordered a MRI. [R.pp. 163 p. 162- 190]. The MRI revealed an Achilles tendon rupture, plantar fasciitis and plantar calcaneal spur. Dr. Prather initially prescribed a

CAM boot and the medications Percocet and Flexeril for pain and spasms. Because conservative medical modalities did not improve Padgett's symptoms of pain, Dr. Prather performed right Achilles reconstruction surgery on May 19, 2015. [R.pp. 162-166; 179-181; 236-238].

Several weeks after undergoing right Achilles reconstruction surgery, Padgett suffered a second Achilles rupture when he felt a pop in his right heel while lifting himself from the toilet. [R.pp. 170].

Padgett underwent a second MRI, which revealed a re-rupture of the right Achilles tendon. Dr. Prather performed a debridement of the Achilles and a second reconstruction surgery. [R.p. 175]. Padgett was placed in a short leg splint after surgery. Dr. Prather later prescribed a short leg cast with plantar flexion. Dr. Prather also ordered Padgett to undergo physical therapy. [R.p. 174].

During the course of Padgett's physical therapy, he continued to complain of right ankle and foot pain. Dr. Prather administered injections to address Padgett's post-surgery complaints of pain. Dr. Prather also prescribed a number of pain and anti-inflammatory medications, i.e., Percocet, Lyrica, Mobic, Flexeril, Elavil, Soma, and Amitriptyline.

On January 19, 2016, Padgett underwent an IME with Dr. Richard Gross, an orthopaedic surgeon. Dr. Gross recommended Padgett undergo an EMG in order to evaluate the cause of the neuropathy affecting the right foot. Dr. Gross also recommended the possible transfer of FHL tendon from the big toe to the calcaneus bone in order to improve the flexion of the right foot.

Padgett attended physical therapy sessions at Low Country Rehabilitation from September 1, 2015 to September 28, 2016. Because physical therapy did little to alleviate Padgett's complaints of pain, he was referred to Dr. Gerald Chai for another medical opinion. Dr. Chai first evaluated Appellant on March 30, 2016, for complaints of chronic pain. Dr. Chai

recommended Padgett continue with long-term narcotic medication in order to treat complaints of chronic pain. [R.p. 212 & 221].

While Padgett was receiving medical treatment resulting from the May 6, 2015 accident, the insurance claims adjuster for American Zurich Insurance Company, Appellant, discovered Padgett had been involved in a prior work-related accident as an employee of Cast & Crew on August 27, 2009. [R.pp. 37-39; 230 & 242]. Padgett first began work for Cast & Crew on January 26, 2009, as a truck driver. [R.p. 38]. Padgett's job duties had required him to transport film equipment and set materials to various locations.

On August 27, 2009, Padgett fell while walking up the steps to a warehouse. [R.p. 39]. He injured his left ankle and right knee. [R.p. 43]. Padgett underwent multiple surgeries to the left ankle. Padgett subsequently began complaining of increased right knee pain and low back pain. Because Padgett suffered with diabetes, hypertension and obesity, he contended he was permanently and totally disabled because of the 2009 accident. Padgett later filed a Form 50 seeking a permanent and total disability award. [R.p. 39].

Padgett was paid \$106,000.00 or 154.8571 weeks of temporary total disability compensation benefits from 2009 to 2012. [R.p. 37 lines 1-2 of Form 19]. Padgett's 2009 claim was ultimately settled for a lump sum payment of \$150,000.00, by virtue of a settlement agreement and release (clincher). [R.pp. 31-36]. The amount of money paid to resolve Padgett's 2009 indemnity and medical benefits claim and the subsequent payments of temporary total disability benefits stemming from the 2015 accident have resulted in excess of 500 weeks of benefits being paid to Padgett. [R.pp. 37 & 244].

Upon review of the two claims, the adjuster discovered that Padgett had utilized his legal name of Perry Padgett, Jr., with regard to the 2009 claim and a variation of his name for the 2015

claim. [R.pp. 31; 36-41; 43; 85 ll. 5-7; 87-88 ll. 16-20; & 242-243]. In particular, at the time of Padgett's re-hire with Cast & Crew Entertainment Services on March 30, 2015, he utilized the name of Frankie Padgett. [R.pp. 56-59]. Padgett utilized two different names in obtaining benefits.

Upon this discovery around May 17, 2017, it was concluded Padgett would soon be paid in excess of 500 weeks of benefits, and that no additional indemnity benefits should be paid pursuant to sections 42-9-160 and 170 of the South Carolina Code of Laws.

Accordingly, a hearing to address the issues raised in the Petition of the employer and carrier, Appellants, was scheduled on October 30, 2017, in Moncks Corner, South Carolina, by the Honorable Aisha Taylor, Commissioner [R.pp. 25-28]. On May 31, 2018, Commissioner Taylor promulgated an Order permitting Appellants to terminate payment of temporary total disability compensation benefits to Padgett because of receipt of payments in excess of 500 weeks of compensation benefits. [R.pp. 11-24].

Padgett appealed Commissioner Taylor's Decision and Order to the Full Commission. The Full Commission affirmed in part and vacated in part the Hearing Commissioner's Decision and Order. [R.pp. 1-10].

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Frankie Padgett, Jr., a/k/a Perry F. Padgett, Jr. or Perry Padgett, worked in the employment of Cast & Crew. During Padgett's first period of employment with Cast & Crew, he sustained injuries to his left foot, left leg, back, hips and right leg on August 27, 2009. [R. p. 31].

Padgett received temporary total disability compensation benefits from August 28, 2009, to September 26, 2012. As a result, Padgett was paid a total of 154.8571 weeks of temporary compensation benefits. [R. p. 37, lines 1-2]. Cast & Crew also paid \$91,851.55 in medical benefits. [R. p. 37, line 6].

Padgett resolved the 2009 claim for the lump sum and non-commuted payment of \$150,000.00, by virtue of a settlement agreement and release (clincher). According to the terms of the clincher, the \$150,000.00 payment, less attorneys' fees and costs, were to be paid over a period of 1,704.56 weeks for "*disputed permanent disability*". [R.p. 32, item number 3]

The clincher provided that although the settlement agreement and release is an agreement approved by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, the settlement agreement also would be construed as a contract, with the provisions of the same enforceable in a court of competent jurisdiction. [R.p. 34, provision (H)]. Accordingly, Padgett and Cast & Crew agreed effective October 22, 2012, Padgett was no longer an employee of Cast & Crew and he would not seek future employment with Cast & Crew. [R.p. 34, provision (I)].

Subsequently, in 2015, Padgett sought employment as a driver for a production company referred to as "*Danger Boy Production*". [R.p. 56]. Padgett was required to complete various employment documents at the time of his hire, which reflected the employer was Cast & Crew. [R.p.56]. Padgett submitted his employment hire forms to Cast & Crew, but he did not use the name "Perry Padgett" as he had utilized in 2009 when he was first hired by Cast & Crew. [R.pp.

31, 37-40, 230-231]. Rather, Respondent used the name “Frankie Padgett” when completing the employment documents. [R.pp. 56-59; 109; & 110, ll. 1-9]. Despite the clause in the 2012 clincher, which was filed with the Commission in on October 22, 2012, and precluded Padgett from seeking or obtaining future employment with Cast & Crew, Padgett began working for Cast & Crew on March 30, 2015, by utilizing the name Frankie Padgett, as opposed to Perry Padgett. [R.pp. 53-59 & 232-234].

Padgett injured his right leg and foot on May 6, 2015. Despite receiving correspondence from American Zurich Insurance Company’s adjuster and documents filed with the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission designating Cast & Crew as Padgett’s employer, Padgett denied the existence of an employment relationship with Cast & Crew. [R.pp. 29, 44, 46-47, 85, ll. 5-20 & 240-241].

In particular, Padgett argues that despite completion of an application in which Cast & Crew is clearly designated as the employer [R.p. 56], he did not violate the terms of the clincher because Cast & Crew is a payroll company, Professional Employer Organization or staffing company, rather than the employer. Padgett further argues Cast & Crew merely provides payroll services and workers’ compensation insurance for various production companies; and did not direct his employment activities.

Cast & Crew argues Padgett’s employment application, check stubs and documents involving his receipt of temporary total disability compensation benefits in 2015, all designate Cast & Crew as the employer. [R. pp. 29, 44-47, 53-54, 56 & 241]. Thus, Padgett breached the contract and promise not to seek re-employment and committed fraud in order to work with Cast & Crew. [R.p. 34, provision (I); & 59]. Cast & Crew further asserts that because of Padgett’s

fraudulent actions, he should be barred from receiving temporary total disability, medical and permanent partial disability benefits.

In addition, Cast & Crew argues that no additional temporary or permanent disability benefits are available because more than 500 weeks of benefits had been paid at the time of the hearings before Commissioner Taylor and clearly the Full Commission.

Padgett testified that he has worked as a truck driver over the years, but denied working for Cast & Crew after 2012. [R.p. 85, ll.11-17]. Padgett admitted that the settlement involving his 2009 accidental injury was paid by Cast & Crew; and that Cast & Crew was designated as the employer in the settlement documents. [R.p.86-87]. Padgett also admitted when his workers' compensation claim was being processed, he received correspondence from the insurance adjuster designating Cast & Crew as his employer. [R.pp 85-89]. Nevertheless, Padgett contends he is entitled to benefits under the Act from Cast & Crew.

Padgett testified that he has always referred to himself as **Frankie Padgett**. [R.pp. 89, ll. 20 – 25; & 90-91]. However, a review of the clincher, which was signed by Padgett on October 12, 2012, reflects that the formal name of **Perry F. Padgett, Jr.**, was utilized. [R.pp. 36-37, 109 & 110, ll. 1-9].

Last, Padgett admitted that prior to his 2015 ankle injury and upon receipt of his first paycheck, Cast & Crew was designated as the employer. [R.p.113, ll. 1 – 4]. Padgett willfully, deliberately, purposefully and knowingly continued his employment with Cast & Crew while cognizant of the terms of the clincher prohibiting future employment with Cast & Crew. [R.pp.102, ll.1-5; 103, ll. 21-25 & 104, ll. 1-6].

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Judicial review of a Workers' Compensation Commission decision is governed by South Carolina Code Annotated §1-23-380 of the Administrative Procedures Act (hereinafter "the APA"); *Lark v. Bi-Lo*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). Under the APA, a decision of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission should be reversed, modified or remanded if unsupported by substantial evidence, or if substantial rights of the appellant have been affected by an error of law, or if the decision is arbitrary or capricious or characterized by an abuse or unwarranted exercise of discretion. *S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(5) (Supp. 2014)*.

Review of the Commission's factual findings is governed by the substantial evidence standard. "A reviewing court may reverse or modify a decision of an agency if the findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions of that agency are 'clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record.'" *Bass v. Isochem*, 365 S.C. 454, 467, 617 S.E.2d 369, 376 (Ct. App. 2005), quoting from *Burse v. South Carolina Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 360 S.C. 135, 600 S.E.2d 80 (Ct. App. 2004); see also *Tiller v. Nat'l Health Care Ctr.*, 334 S.C. 333, 513 S.E.2d 843 (1999); see also *S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(A)(5)(e)*. "Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the administrative agency reached in order to justify its action." *Frame v. Resort Services Inc.*, 357 S.C. 520, 527-28, 593 S.E.2d 491, 495 (Ct. App. 2004); *Bass v. Isochem*, 365 S.C. at 468, 617 S.E.2d at 376. In particular, workers' compensation awards "must not be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation." *Tiller*, 334 S.C. at 339, 513 S.E.2d at 845.

In addition, a reviewing court should reverse, remand or modify a decision of the

Workers' Compensation Commission if it is affected by an error of law. *Etheredge v. Monsanto Co.*, 349 S.C. 451, 562 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2002). Case law unequivocally establishes that statutory interpretation is a question of law, and the appellate court "is free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the fact finder." *King v. Int'l Knife & Saw - Florence*, 395 S.C. 437, 442, 718 S.E.2d 227, 229 (Ct. App. 2011); *S.C. Uninsured Employers' Fund v. House*, 360 S.C. 468, 602 S.E.2d 81 (Ct. App. 2004). Likewise, the determination of legislative intent in a statute is a matter of law. *Wehle v. S.C. Retirement Syst.*, 363 S.E. 394, 611 S.E.2d 240 (2005); *Liberty Mutual Insur. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 363 S.C. 612, 611 S.E.2d 297 (2005).

In summary, an appellate court must review the Commission's interpretation of a statute as a question of law and must review the Commission's application of the facts to the statute as a question of fact under the substantial evidence standard of review. *See King*, 395 S.C. at 442, 718 S.E.2d at 229.

LEGAL ARGUMENTS

I. THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION LACKS SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION, AND THUS, CANNOT AWARD RESPONDENT BENEFITS ARISING FROM THE ACCIDENT THAT OCCURRED ON MAY 6, 2015.

In order for the for the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission to exercise jurisdiction, it must be established that an employee/employer relationship exists. *S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-1-130 and 140 (2020)*. The existence of an employer/employee relationship is jurisdictional and the reviewing court is not bound by the Commission's findings of fact upon which jurisdiction is dependent. *Harding v. Plumley, 329 S.C. 580, 496 S.E.2d 29 (1998)*.

In particular, the employment contract entered into by Respondent with Cast and Crew in 2015 prevented him from lawfully being employed by Cast & Crew. Thus, absent an employment relationship, the Commission is unable to exercise subject matter jurisdiction and award benefits in the instant case. *S.C. Code Ann. §§ 42-1-10; 42-1-130-150 (2020)*.

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