THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
Workers' Compensation Commission

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001254  
WCC File No. 1506114

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 20 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Frankie Padgett, Claimant. . . . . Respondent,

v.

Cast and Crew Entertainment Services, Inc., Employer,  
and American Zurich Insurance Company, Carrier, . . . . . Appellants.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Stephen B. Samuels  
SAMUELS REYNOLDS LAW FIRM, LLC  
1320 Richland Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(803) 779-4000  
Stephen@SamuelsReynolds.com

Attorney for Respondent

##

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

## ARGUMENT

**1. The Appellate Panel correctly held that the Employer cannot void the employee/employer relationship [in Response to Appellants' argument at pages 10-13].**

Appellants contend that there is no employee/employer relationship in this case, such that the Workers' Compensation Commission lacks jurisdiction. Appellants argue that "the employment contract entered into by Respondent with Cast and Crew in 2015 prevented him from lawfully being employed by Cast & Crew." [Brief of Appellants, page 10]. Cast & Crew seeks to evade liability for an admittedly compensable work-related injury for which they filed an Agreement to Pay Compensation (Form 15) on June 8, 2015. [R.P. 241]. Two years later, on June 23, 2017, Respondents filed their petition to terminate compensation and medical treatment. [R.P. 25-28].

Appellants predicate their argument by averring there is "no dispute" over several issues which are, in fact, disputed. Appellants state "There is no dispute that the elements necessary for the aforesaid contract to enforceable were established to form a contract . . ." <sup>1</sup> [Brief of Appellants, page 11]. While it is correct that the 2012 clincher resolved the 2009 workers' compensation case, Padgett absolutely disputes that the provision "he will not seek future employment" is valid, enforceable, legal or applicable to the instant case.

Second, Appellants state "there is no dispute Padgett was paid 1,705.56 weeks of prorated

---

<sup>1</sup>

Under the elements to form a contract set forth in Player, the "future employment" clause is unenforceable because (1) the Commission lacks subject matter over provisions outside the Act, including noncompete and employment releases; (2) there is no separate consideration for the "future employment" clause as the only consideration paid in the case was to resolve disputed issues under the Workers' Compensation Act; and (3) there is neither mutuality of agreement nor obligation as the provision does not prevent Cast & Crew from paying wages to Padgett on behalf of its movie production company clients. Player v. Chandler, 299 S.C. 101, 382 S.E.2d 891 (1989).

benefits . . .” [Brief of Appellants, page 12]. The parties settled the 2009 claim for a lump sum payment of \$150,000.00. The Single Commissioner erroneously held “Based upon the terms of the settlement agreement and release, Claimant was previously compensated by Cast & Crew for 1,704.56 weeks of benefits (per a mutually agreed to allocation by the parties).” The Appellate Panel vacated this finding. [R.P. 8, Finding of Fact 8]. It is inaccurate for Appellants to state there is no dispute over a finding which was vacated by the Appellate panel.

Third, Appellants mischaracterize and overstate Padgett’s actions as an “obvious attempt to deceive Appellants into re-hiring him.” [Brief of Appellants, page 13]. Not only is this point disputed, but both the Single Commissioner and Appellate Panel held:

there is insufficient evidence to support a finding of fraud in the inducement or *fraud ab initio*, which would void the employee/employer relationship at the time of Claimant's injury. Claimant's use of two versions of his name, pre-injury and post-injury, while compelling, is not persuasive, absent the undersigned engaging in surmise or speculations as to fraud.

[R.P. 7, Finding of Fact 6].

A. As voiding the employment relationship was not appealed to the Appellate Panel, this issue is not preserved for Appellate review.

In their Petition before the Single Commissioner, Appellants sought to void the employment relationship on the grounds that Padgett’s “application for employment in 2015 constituted fraud in the application, which thereby rendered void Respondent’s 2015 employment tenure with [Appellants] and an obligation to pay workers’ compensation benefits.” [R.P. 27, paragraph 13]. The Single Commissioner ruled against Appellants on this issue. She did find Padgett “expressly and knowingly accepted the work assignment with Cast & Crew, which violated the terms of the contract and the settlement agreement, and release.” [R.P. 7, Finding of Fact 6]. However, she did not grant the Petition on this ground, as she also ruled “there is insufficient evidence . . . of fraud . . . which

would void the employee/employer relationship . . .” [R.P. 21, Finding of Fact 6]. The Appellate Panel affirmed. [R.P. 7, Finding of Fact 6].

Appellants did not appeal the ruling on this issue to the Appellate Panel. As such, it is not preserved for appellate review by this Court. See Brunson v. American Koyo Bearings, 367 S.C. 161, 165-66, 623 S.E.2d 870, 872 (Ct.App. 2005)(factual findings and conclusions of law of the single commissioner become the law of the case when not challenged on appeal).

B. There is no legal basis on which Cast & Crew can void the employee/employer relationship to evade their liability under the Workers’ Compensation Act.

Appellants argue they can void the employee/employer relationship (which they refer to as an “employment contract”) based on language in the *Settlement Agreement and Release of All Workers’ Compensation Claims* filed with the Commission on October 22, 2012. Appellants contend that voiding the employment relationship divests the Commission of subject matter jurisdiction. They specifically refer to a clause stating:

The parties agree that the Claimant is no longer an employee of Cast & Crew Entertainment Services, Inc. And further agrees that he will not seek future employment with Cast & Crew Entertainment Services, Inc.

[R.P. 34].

The Workers’ Compensation Act is a creature of statute. It is to be construed liberally consistent with its beneficent purpose. As the supreme court has stated, “Common sense indicates that a compensation law passed to increase workers’ rights (because their common law rights were too narrow) should not thereafter be narrowly construed.” Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 534, 689 S.E.2d 615 (2010), *quoting Pelfrey v. Oconee County*, 207 S.C. 433, 440, 36 S.E.2d 297, 300 (1945).

With one narrow exception the claims and defenses in workers' compensation are entirely based on statute. The lone common law defense is set forth in Cooper. Cooper holds that the employer can void the employment relationship if it can prove: "(1) The employee must have knowingly and wilfully made a false representation as to his physical condition; (2) The employer must have relied upon the false representation and this reliance must have been a substantial factor in the hiring; and (3) There must have been a causal connection between the false representation and the injury." Cooper v. McDevitt & Street, 260 S.C. 463, 469, 196 S.E.2d 833, 835 (1973). All three factors must be present for the employer to avoid paying benefits to the employee. Vines v. Champion Bldg. Prods., 315 S.C. 13, 16, 431 S.E.2d 585, 586 (1993). Cooper is strictly limited to those situations where the putative employee *misrepresented his physical condition* to induce a potential employer to hire him knowing that he was physically incapable of doing the job without near certain risk of injury due to the preexisting condition.

Cast & Crew cannot prove the elements of Cooper. Padgett made no misrepresentations about his physical condition nor did he have a preexisting injury or impairment to his right ankle. Nor is there any possibility that use of his common name rather than his formal name has any causal connection to his ultimate injury.

Appellants seek to create new law allowing them to evade liability based on virtually any inaccurate, confusing or mistaken statement in an employee's new hire paperwork. There is no authority for this proposition. Indeed, it is contradicted by the key part of Cooper – that there must be a causal connection between the misrepresentation and the injury itself.

Appellants' argument would also violate the terms of the Workers' Compensation Act (let alone the intent) on several grounds. Neither party has the ability to enter into a contract avoiding



the Act. Appellants point to a provision in the 2012 settlement agreement wherein Padgett ostensibly “agrees that he will not seek future employment with Cast & Crew Entertainment Services, Inc.” [R.P. 34]. This provision is *void ab initio* as to the Act, as the statute provides “No contract or agreement, written or implied, . . . shall in any manner operate to relieve any employer, in whole or in part, of any obligation created by this title except as otherwise expressly provided in this title.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-610 (2007). The Act further states “No agreement by an employee to waive his rights to compensation under this title shall be valid.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-620 (2007). *See, also* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-130 (2007)(The term “employee” means every person engaged in an employment . . . *whether lawfully or unlawfully employed* . . . )(emphasis added).

Even if such a contractual provision was not prohibited by the Act, it would be void under public policy due to the unique nature of the employment relationship in this case. While Cast & Crew may have been designated as the *de jure* employer for purposes of insurance coverage, Cast & Crew was not the *de facto* employer. The *de facto* employer was Danger Boy Productions.

Cast & Crew provides payroll services (including workers’ compensation) to production companies producing movies and television programs. Padgett was injured working on *Vice Principals*. The show was produced by Danger Boy Productions, who hired Cast & Crew to be its payroll service. Padgett obtained employment with Danger Boy Productions through the Teamsters union. He did not seek nor did he obtain employment directly with Cast & Crew. His paycheck stubs list the employer as “Danger Boys Productions, LLC (#5287).”<sup>2</sup> [R.P. 53].

---

2

Appellants also introduced a “Payroll History Report.” The report shows wage payments made by or on behalf of Danger Boy Productions, LLC. As this is an internal Cast & Crew report,

Cast & Crew alleges Padgett was employed as a truck driver for Cast & Crew in both 2009 and 2015. In fact, Padgett was employed by ABC Productions to work on a show called *Army Wives* in 2009. When that show ended, his employment ended. In 2015, Padgett was hired through the Teamsters' Union by Danger Boy Productions to work on *Vice Principals*. The mere fact Cast & Crew was the payroll company for both productions does not make them Padgett's *actual* employer. Cast & Crew is "*merely a provider of payroll services* to the entertainment industry and, in our limited role, we do not directly employ, or control the day-to-day responsibilities of our payroll clients nor their production employees." [R.P. 228, 248]. The Appellate Panel found Cast & Crew's designation as an employer is analogous to a statutory employer or Professional Employer Organization (PEO) in that these "are entities not directly controlling the daily operations of the employee, nevertheless, each entity is designated as the employer." [R.P. 6, Finding of Fact 3].

Two companies provide payroll services to these entertainment production companies: Cast & Crew and their competitor Entertainment Services. [R.P. 50-54; 104, lines 4-7; 115 line 11-page 116, line 11; 228, 248]. If Cast & Crew could prevent a person – particularly a union member<sup>3</sup> –

---

Padgett would not have seen it. [R.P. 54].

3

As Padgett is a member of the Teamster's Union hired under a collective bargaining agreement, neither Padgett nor Cast & Crew can enter into a side agreement varying the terms of the collective bargaining agreement. As the United States Supreme Court stated in J. I. Case Co. v. NLRB, 321 U.S. 332, 337 (1944):

Individual contracts, no matter what the circumstances that justify their execution or what their terms, may not be availed of to defeat or delay the procedures prescribed by the National Labor Relations Act looking to collective bargaining, nor to exclude the contracting employee from a duly ascertained bargaining unit; nor may they be used to forestall bargaining or to limit or condition the terms of the collective bargaining agreement.

from working in any production for which it provided payroll services, then it could effectively prohibit people from working in movies and television altogether.

The provision Cast & Crew seeks to enforce is somewhat akin to a covenant not to compete – with the distinct difference that there is no competition or economic loss to Cast & Crew, such that it lacks even the basic purpose of a noncompete agreement. Restrictive covenants not to compete are generally disfavored and will be strictly construed against the employer. “An agreement’s enforceability depends on whether it (1) is necessary for the protection of the legitimate interest of the employer, (2) is reasonably limited in its operation with respect to time and place, (3) is not unduly harsh and oppressive in curtailing the legitimate efforts of the employee to earn a livelihood, (4) is reasonable from the standpoint of sound public policy, and (5) is supported by a valuable consideration.” Rental Uniform Service of Florence, Inc. v. Dudley, 278 S.C. 674, 301 S.E.2d 142 (1983). The provision in the instant case fails on all counts.

Padgett settled a workers’ compensation claim with Cast & Crew; not a wrongful termination or other employment claim. The mere fact someone got injured on the job is not a valid reason to prohibit that person from continuing employment in an industry in which only two companies provide payroll services. Indeed, our State’s public policy expressly disfavors forcing injured workers to give up their right to continuing employment as a condition of settling a workers’ compensation case. “For sound policy reasons, the workers’ compensation system encourages an injured employee who is still able to perform light-duty work to continue working for his current employer until he reaches maximum medical improvement and then, if possible, to return to his previous position.” Lee v. Bondex, 406 S.C. 97, 749 S.E.2d 155 (Ct. App. 2013).

Furthermore, the Workers’ Compensation Commission is a “forum of limited jurisdiction.”

Crosby v. Prysmian Commc'ns Cables, 397 S.C. 101, 723 S.E.2d 813 (Ct. App. 2012)(Williams, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). It has no authority to adjudicate or approve settlements of employment claims, including the restrictions on employment sought to be enforced here. “The rights and liabilities of employee and employer under the Workmen’s Compensation Act are purely statutory and are to be judged by the terms of the Act. Policy considerations as to what benefits should be conferred or obligations imposed are strictly for the legislature. . . .” Blue Cross and Blue Shield v. South Carolina Indus. Commission, 262 S.E.2d 35, 274 S.C. 204 (1980)(holding health insurer had not standing before the commission), *quoting* Owens v. Herndon, 252 S.C. 166, 165 S.E.2d 696 (1969).

The Court should find as a matter of law that the contractual provision is *void ab initio* as it (1) violates the express provisions of the Act; (2) violates public policy; (3) is not within the Commission’s subject matter jurisdiction; and (4) has no support in the common law. Therefore, the Commission’s Decision and Order should be affirmed with modifications.

C. Cast and Crew cannot prove that Padgett committed fraud.

Appellants argue that “Padgett’s actions are tantamount to a breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act because of his obvious intent to deceive Appellants into re-hiring him.” [Brief of Appellants, page 13]. The Appellate Panel rejected this argument, holding “there is insufficient evidence to support a finding of fraud . . . absent the undersigned engaging in surmise or speculations as to fraud.” [R.P. 7, Finding of Fact 6].

To establish a cause of action for fraud, the following elements must be proven by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence: (1) a representation of fact; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) either knowledge of its falsity or a reckless disregard of its truth or falsity; (5) intent that the

representation be acted upon; (6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity; (7) the hearer's reliance on its truth; (8) the hearer's right to rely thereon; and (9) the hearer's consequent and proximate injury. Kahn Constr. Co. v. S.C. Nat'l Bank of Charleston, 275 S.C. 381, 271 S.E.2d 414 (1980); Schnellmann v. Roettger, 373 S.C. 379, 645 S.E.2d 239 (2007). The Appellate Panel correctly found Cast & Crew cannot prove fraud.

The allegation underlying Cast & Crew's fraud defense is that "Padgett's use of a variation of his legal name on the withholding from and other documents clearly show an intent to avoid discovery of his true identity by a calculated misrepresentation of his name." [Brief of Appellants, page 12].

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